THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
JUN 21 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2021-000017

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Gordon G. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-11-00040

Yvonne J. Robinson

Respondent,

v.

Appellants.

Donray Curtis Jones, Cynthia
Denise Jones, Emma Kelly
Washington, and Troy Eliazer
Washington

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Donray & Cynthia Jones
125 Hudnut Drive
Pacolet, SC 29372

Troy & Emma Washington
118 Hudnut Drive
Pacolet, SC 29372

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO FIRST REFUSAL, TREATING IT AS ONLY AN OPTION?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY NOT ORDERING AN APPRAISAL, PRIOR TO PARTITION, TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF THE INTEREST TO BE SOLD?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ORDERING A PARTITION IN KIND?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO THE RESPONDENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 16, 2020, Yvonne Robinson (Respondent) filed a complaint in which she sought a partition in kind of a 3.84 acre tract of land that she owns jointly with Donray Jones, Cynthia Jones, Emma Washington, and Troy Washington (Appellants). Ms. Robinson requested the subject property to be partitioned pursuant to a survey she had drawn up two months earlier, on November 7, 2019. She also requested that the Court set aside the Warranty Deed which records that she sold a two-third interest in the entire property to the appellants. On February 2, the appellants mailed a written answer to Ms. Robinson's attorney, expressing that they did not agree to physically divide the land. This matter was referred to the master-in-equity, Honorable Gordon G. Cooper. A partition action was filed by the Court on February 24, 2020, subject to the provisions of South Carolina Code §15-61-25. The appellants received notice that a hearing would be held on June 9, 2020. On May 29, 2020, the appellants filed a notice with the Court of their interest to purchase the respondent's one-third interest in the subject property. The hearing was subsequently postponed until October 13, 2020 due to the pandemic.

At the hearing, the judge ordered that the parties take 30 days to try to work out the matter among themselves as to the respondent's one-third interest in the land. If the parties could not come to a resolution, the Court would have to make a decision based on the applicable law. The parties were unable to agree on a purchase price of the interest within the 30 days. There was no final hearing; the Court simply e-filed a judgment on December 4, 2020. The court ordered that the land be partitioned in kind. The Court also ordered the appellants to pay a collective two-thirds of the respondent's attorney fees. On December 30, 2020 the appellants timely served the Notice of Appeal on the respondent's attorney and filed it with the trial court.

FACTS

This case is about a 3.84 acre tract of land located in Cherokee County, SC. (R. 20, L.19). Ms. Robinson (Respondent), along with Donray Jones, Cynthia Jones, Emma Washington, and Troy Washington (Appellants) own this property together. (R.52-53). They all wanted land out in the country. (R.29, L.3) This property had three septic tanks, a well, a large storage/shop building, and plenty of land for gardening. They agreed to purchase it together. (R.30, L.3 and R.33, L 4-5).

Since they were purchasing the land together, each party was responsible for one-third of the \$24,000 cost. (R.26, L.25 and R.27, L.1). The Joneses and the Washingtons needed time to secure their portion of the purchase price, which was \$8000 each. (R. 28, L. 9-13 and R. 29, L.8-10). In September 2014, Ms. Robinson paid the full purchase price of \$24,000 for the land upfront, with the agreement that the Joneses and the Washingtons would pay back \$16,000, their share of the purchase price. (R. 29, L. 8-10 and R. 30, L.4-5) The Joneses and the Washingtons began to make installment payments until the debt was paid. (R. 29, L. 9-10)

Because there were three septic tanks already on the property, each party could move a mobile home onto the land and live on it if they chose. (R. 24, L. 11-13) The Washingtons were the first to live on the land, moving a mobile home onto the property in December 2014. The Joneses placed a mobile home on the land and started living there in September 2015. Ms. Robinson also placed a mobile home on the land but did not permanently move into it until 2018. (R. 21, L. 16-17; R. 23, L. 21-24; R.24, L. 5-6) The mobile homes were arranged to allow everyone access to a tank. This arrangement of the mobile homes did not physically divide the land into three parts. None of these mobile homes are de-titled. (R. 40, L.12-13; R. 44, L.16-17).

In the spring of 2016, the appellants paid off their balance to Ms. Robinson. Ms.

Robinson, Mr. Jones, and Mrs. Washington all went to Hyde Law Firm on April 21, 2016 to have a new property deed drawn up to show all of the joint owners. (R. 22, Ln. 2-4; R. 33, L.11-13; R.52-53)

Before Ms. Robinson signed the new deed, much discussion was held with the lawyer to make sure everyone understood and agreed to a joint tenancy. (R. 31, L. 21-25; R.32, L. 6-11; R.33, L. 20-24; R. 34, L. 1-23). The deed would not split the land up into thirds or give each party a separate parcel. It gave each party a one-third interest in the land. Ms. Robinson signed the deed acknowledging that, in consideration of \$16,000, she had sold an undivided one-third interest to the Washingtons and an undivided one-third interest to the Joneses in the entire 3.84 acres. (R.52-53) The wording of the warranty deed conclusively creates a joint tenancy. S.C. Code § 27-7-40. The Washingtons and the Joneses are listed as joint tenants with the Rights of Survivorship and not as Tenants in Common.

It is of significance that the deed Ms. Robinson signed describes the parcel of land as “**all** that certain piece, parcel or lot of land... known as 3.84 acres... as shown on the plat prepared... by Lavender, Smith & Associates, Inc. dated March 7, 1994 and recorded in Book S-111, Page 6 of the Clerk’s Office for Cherokee County”. (R.52-53) This survey is the reference that was used to provide a more particular description of the real property. The deed does not purport to partition the land into separate parcels. It reflects that the parties would have equal ownership of the 3.84 acre parcel.

From the time the land was purchased in 2014, the tenants have shared in the expenses of preparing and maintaining it. There has always been one property bill for the parcel. When the property bill comes, Ms. Robinson, the Washingtons, and the Joneses each contribute one-third of the payment. (R.25, L.11-22; R.35, L. 5-7). This was the arrangement even before the

Washingtons and Joneses were added to the deed.

The property itself has been shared since 2014. The storage/shop building in the middle of the property is shared by all tenants. (R.38, L.7-8). The land is shared and maintained by all tenants, including a huge garden area that they cleared, fertilized, planted, and fenced together. (R.38, L.4-6). There is also a well centered on the property. (R. 38, L.18-19). All of the joint owners have access and rights to all parts of the property. (R.38, L.15-17).

On September 23, 2019, Ms. Robinson sent a text message to the appellants stating "I have had the property surveyed for the one-third I own in preparation to sell, which includes into part of the big garden." (R.42, Ln. 17-24) This is how the appellants first learned that Ms. Robinson desired to split up the land to sell it. Because the land is owned jointly, the only way she could do this is if the land was physically partitioned and the desired section awarded to her. It is significant to note that the portion that Ms. Robinson is requesting for herself (R.55, parcel B) includes the storage/shop building, the shared garden, and the well. (R. 38, Ln. 4-6,7-8, 18-19)

Ms. Robinson had a survey performed without the appellants' knowledge, in which the surveyors drew a plat to show the property as three different parcels. (R.35, L.19-25; R.36, L.1-6). This survey was recorded on November 7, 2019 with the Cherokee County Register of Deeds. This survey, however, does not change how the land is owned, per the registered deed. It simply shows how Ms. Robinson wishes it to be divided. (R.46, L.24-25; R.47, L.1-7; R.55).

On January 16, 2020, Ms. Robinson filed a complaint in which she sought a partition in kind of the land. She also requested that the Court set aside the Warranty Deed that records that she sold a two-third interest in the property to the appellants. She argued that the deed was "erroneous" and did not reflect her understanding of what she was signing. (R.17, #5, #7) Ms. Robinson prayed the Court that the "Plaintiff (herself) be ordered to sign new deeds in

accordance with the survey” from November 2019. (R.18, #3). On February 2, 2020 the appellants mailed a letter to Ms. Robinson’s attorney, expressing that they didn’t agree to physically divide the land and wanted to keep their purchased interests in the property. (R.50).

This matter was referred to the master-in-equity, Honorable Gordon G. Cooper. Accordingly, a partition action order was filed by the Court on February 24, 2020, subject to the provisions of South Carolina Code §15-61-25. (R. 1-4). This code details the procedure that must be followed for all petitions for partition filed after May 25, 2006.

The appellants received notice that a hearing would be held on June 9, 2020. On May 29, 2020, the appellants timely filed a notice with the Court of their interest to purchase the respondent’s one-third interest in the subject property. (R. 19). The hearing was subsequently postponed until October 13, 2020 due to COVID social distancing requirements.

At the hearing on October 13, the judge ordered that the parties take 30 days to try to work out the matter among themselves as to the respondent’s one-third interest in the land. (R. 5-6). If the parties could not come to a resolution, the Court would have to make a decision based on the applicable law. (R.10, 1st par.). The parties were unable to agree on a purchase price of the interest within the 30 days. (R.10, 1st par.) There was no follow-up hearing; the Court’s judgment was e-filed on December 4, 2020. (R. 7-14) The court ordered that the land be partitioned in kind pursuant to the recent survey. The Court also ordered the appellants to pay a collective two-thirds of the respondent’s attorney fees and costs. (R. 11-12, #1-4)). On December 30, 2020 the appellants timely served the Notice of Appeal on the respondent’s attorney and filed it with the trial court.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO FIRST REFUSAL, TREATING IT AS ONLY AN OPTION.

Prior to the hearing, the Court filed an order stating that this partition action was subject to the provisions of S.C. Code § 15-61-25. (R.1,2)) This code reads: "Upon the filing of a partition for petition of real property owned by joint tenants or tenants in common, the court shall provide for the nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common who are interested in purchasing the property to notify the court of that interest no later than ten days prior to the date set for the trial of the case. The nonpetitioning join tenants or tenants in common shall be allowed to purchase the interests in the property as provided in this section whether default has been entered against them or not." S.C. Code §15-61-25 (A). The code clearly provides that, prior to partition, a joint tenant has first right of refusal to purchase the property.

After receiving the Court's order of partition, the appellants filed a proper and timely notice to the court of their desire to purchase the respondent's interest in the land. (R.19). During testimony, the appellants reiterated to the Judge that they had complied with the requirement to inform the Court of their interest in purchasing Ms. Robinson's interest.(R.39, L.25-R.40, L.1-2) . The Judge acknowledged that he had seen the filing. (R.42, L.24-25; R.43, L.1-2). Later, when the judge was reminded again of the wording of the deed and that the appellants had already given notice of their desire to purchase Ms. Robinson's interest, the Judge's reply was "Well, I want y'all to just think about that and don't go on the record with that and get me involved in that part. But when a partition action is filed, something has got to happen at the end of it." (R.47, L.10-20). The appellants agree that "something has got to happen at the end of it." However, there is a process that must be followed by law. When listing what his

options were for settling this case, the Judge said: "This is called an action for a partition of property. In a case such as this, where you got everybody owning a piece, one of the co-owners, no matter what -- a lot of times it happens in families and whatever, business partner -- somebody doesn't want to be in the same group anymore. And if they can't agree as to how it's going to be done, any one of the owners can file a partition action. And that's what this is, to either have, one, the property sold on the open market. I don't think y'all want to do that... Or I can divide it up. And have it divided up in kind, which everybody gets a piece of the pie." (R.36, L.19-25-R.37, L.1-7).

The judge treated the appellants' right to first refusal as only an option.

Judge Cooper: "The other option is prior to all of this is if Ms. Robinson wants to sell, that negotiations be entered into for the purchase of her interest in the property. That's an option." (R. 41, L24-25- R.42, L.1-2). The applicable code does not define the first "right" of refusal as optional; it is a legal right. In addition, it is not dependent upon if the petitioning tenant "wants" to sell her interest to the nonpetitioning tenants. This right becomes enforceable "upon the filing of a petition for partition of real property owned by joint tenants or tenants in common." S.C. Code § 15-61-25, (A).

Without dispute, jointly-owned property is subject to partition. However, the appellants should have been allowed to exercise their legal right of first refusal to purchase the property, prior to partition. In addition, the law states that if the nonpetitioning tenants fail to timely pay the determined purchase price of the interest, the court shall proceed according to its traditional practices in partition sales. S.C. Code § 15-61-25, (E). The law does not provide for a partition in kind in this code, only a partition sale. Further, no partition sale can take place if the nonpetitioning tenants exercise the first right of refusal. It is exercised "prior" to partition. The

trial court erred by dismissing the appellants' right to first refusal, prior to partition.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT ORDERING AN APPRAISAL, PRIOR TO PARTITION, TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF THE INTEREST TO BE SOLD.

The judge's order at the end of the hearing was that the parties take 30 days to try to work out the matter among themselves as to the respondent's one-third interest in the land. Ms.

Washington asked the judge to clarify what he meant by that.

MS. WASHINGTON: Just to make sure I understand what we are doing, so between today and November 12, what you are saying is that we come together and agree on a purchase price of her interest?

JUDGE COOPER: Well, basically that's it. (R.45, L.4-8)

When questioned as to how to arrive at a purchase price, the judge left it at the parties' discretion.

MS. WASHINGTON: The figure that we come up with, is it just something that we agree to, or is it based --

JUDGE COOPER: I don't care what you sell it for. If y'all can negotiate something, a price, and everybody is agreeable to it, that's great.

MS. WASHINGTON: Okay.

JUDGE COOPER: It has nothing to do with anything. So I am not setting any guidelines. It's just business folks, arriving at a figure as to what works. Okay?

MS. WASHINGTON: Yes. (R. 48, L.14-25)

The judge was extending an opportunity to all the joint owners to decide on a price of

Ms. Robinson's interest without there being a ruling from the Court. That was the only thing to be considered for the next 30 days.

JUDGE COOPER: Mr. Talley, what I am going to do in this case is I am going to step back -- not step back -- but put this matter in kind of a nonruling status for 30 days. And that's something I just made up, but I want to make sure that Ms. Robinson and the parties cannot agree as to a purchase price from Ms. Robinson's interest if she wants to sell. So I am going to leave it for 30 days, where that can be the only matter to be considered for 30 days. (R.43, L.14-22).

The Washingtons and the Joneses had no issue with the direction the Judge was taking, since the law says joint tenants have first right of refusal once a petition for partition is filed. They agreed to working out a fair price with Ms. Robinson.

On October 25 the appellants sent a letter to Ms. Robinson, seeking a fair price for her interest. (R.56) However, Ms. Robinson did not want to negotiate a price for her interest in the land only, but for her interest along with her mobile home. (R.57). The appellants were not interested in purchasing her mobile home, which has nothing to do with the interest in the land. (R.58)

When the parties could not agree to a purchase price of the respondent's interest, the court failed to follow the applicable law, which requires a court-ordered appraisal of the land to determine the value of the interest to be sold. SC Code §15-61-25 (B). This is the remedy the law provides. Upon completion of the appraisal, the appellants should have been allowed to purchase the interest at its appraised value. South Carolina Code §15-61-25, (D). Upon the payment and the approval of it by the Court, the Court should have executed and delivered the proper instruments transferring title to the appellants. South Carolina Code §15-61-25.(B).

The judge did not follow the applicable law, but instead chose to order a partition in kind based on Ms. Robinson's survey. (R. 11, #1). There was no law stated that allows for that.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING A PARTITION IN KIND.

The respondent sought a partition in kind, a remedy which is not applicable in this case. By definition, a partition in kind is "the division of heirs' property into physically distinct and separately titled parcels." South Carolina Code §15-61-320 (9). But, the subject property in this case is not heirs' property. The appellants were each deeded a one-third interest in the property in total consideration of \$16,000 paid to the respondent. (R.52-53)

The judge erred when he ordered a partition in kind. By ordering a physical partition, the appellants lose their purchased interest in the storage/shop building and the well. The respondent becomes the sole owner of both. (R.55) This would add value to her parcel only, which is an unequitable distribution. In addition, the respondent becomes the sole owner of the large garden that all the owners share. The expenses necessary to fertilize, till, plant, and fence this space have been shared by everyone.

Since each tenant purchased a 1/3 interest in the entire property, a partition in kind would effectively take away each tenant's right and access to 2/3 of the property. (R.55) This ruling is deleterious to the appellants' interest in the land and goes against the applicable law which gives the appellants first right of refusal, prior to a partition.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COURT COSTS TO THE RESPONDENT.

Ms. Robinson could have legally sold or given away her one-third interest in the property without getting the courts involved. This would have effectually ended the joint tenancy. The

reason this action was commenced is because the respondent desired, rather, a partition in kind, a remedy the law does not allow her to do independently. After the respondent filed her petition for partition, the Judge sent an order dictating the applicable law for this case, which gives the joint owners first right of refusal prior to partition. The appellants gave notice of their intent to purchase the subject interest more than four months prior to the October 13, 2020 trial date. Ms. Robinson had ample time to work out a resolution with the appellants without a trial or court costs. However, since she did not seek the remedy the law offered, the trial took place and she was represented and invoiced by her chosen Counsel. This is through no fault of the appellants. Thus, no attorney's fees should have been awarded.

Further, the judge did not give any valid legal reason for awarding the attorney's fees and costs. In his final order, the judge concluded attorney fees and costs in this action were pursuant to SC Code §16-51-110. (R.11, #9). Based on this "finding of fact", the Judge granted the Respondent's request for attorney fees and costs. This fictitious code does not exist anywhere in the SC Code of Laws; therefore, it cannot serve as a legal basis for a decision. For these reasons, the judge erred in ordering a reward for attorney's fees and costs.

CONCLUSION