**RECEIVED**

**Apr 04 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY  
Master-in-Equity, Gordon G. Cooper

---

Case No.: 2020-CP-11-00040  
Appellate Case No: 2021-000017

---

**Donray Curtis Jones, Cynthia  
Denise Jones, Emma Kelly  
Washington, and Troy Eliazer  
Washington,**

**Appellants,**

**vs.**

**Yvonne J. Robinson**

**Respondent.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT YVONNE J. ROBINSON**

---

s/ Scott F. Talley

Scott F. Talley, Esquire  
TALLEY LAW FIRM, P.A.  
291 S. Pine St.

Spartanburg, South Carolina 29302  
Attorney for Respondent

April 4, 2022

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES OF APPEAL

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN PROCEEDING TO PARTITION THE PROPERTY IN KIND, PURSUANT TO STATUTE?**
2. **WAS THE TRIAL COURT REQUIRED TO ORDER AN APPRAISAL PRIOR TO PARTITION OF THE PROPERTY IN KIND?**
3. **WAS THE TRIAL COURT CORRECT TO APPORTION COSTS AND ATTORNEYS FEES TO ALL PARTIES, INCLUDING APPELLANTS, AS PERMITTED BY STATUTE?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 14, 2020 Plaintiff initiated this action by filing a Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint. On January 16, 2020 an Amended Complaint was filed wherein Plaintiff sought a Partition in Kind, or in the alternative a reformation of the Warranty Deed recorded in Deed Book 84, at Page 1920, Cherokee County Register of Deeds. Based on said deed, the property subject of this action was owned by Plaintiff owning one-third interest, Appellants, Donray Curtis Jones and Cynthia Jones owning one-third interest, and Appellants, Emma Kelly Washington and Troy Eliazer Washington owning one-third interest. Appellants filed their answer to the Amended Complaint on or about October 12, 2020 stating that, their intention was the same as it is to this present day; for the land to remain undivided with each party having a one-third interest in the land. On or about October 15, 2019, Respondent Robinson had Cole Land Surveying, LLC perform a survey of the subject property showing division into three separate parcels. The plat of this survey was recorded on November 7, 2019 in Cherokee County Register of Deeds. On

February 24, 2020 the Court issued its Partition Order dated February 19, 2020, which was served on the Defendants/Appellants. On May 29, 2020, prior to the first scheduled hearing in this matter, Appellants did file a document with the Clerk of Court for Cherokee County indicating that they wanted to purchase the 1/3 interest of the Plaintiff in the subject property. This matter came to trial and the Court issued an Order filed December 4, 2020 partitioning the subject property in kind pursuant to the October 15, 2019 survey of the property by Cole Surveying. In addition, the Court ordered the Appellants to pay two-thirds of the attorney's fees/costs incurred by Respondent. This appeal followed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In her Amended Complaint, the Respondent sought partition of the subject property in-kind pursuant to a survey she had completed which was entered into evidence. The standard of review for a partition action heard by the Master in Equity is an equitable action and, as such, this Court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. Zimmerman v. Marsh, 365 S.C. 383, 386, 618 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2005). The partition procedure must be fair and equitable to all parties of the action. Pruitt v. Pruitt, 298 S.C. 411, 414, 380 S.E.2d 862, 864 (Ct.App.1989). This Court has previously stated that partition in kind is favored when it can be fairly made without injury to the parties. Anderson v. Anderson, 299 S.C. 110, 114, 382 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1989). Furthermore, equitable considerations such as the length of ownership and sentimental attachment to property may be considered in a partition action, but the pecuniary interests of all of the parties is the determining factor in deciding whether to require a judicial sale or to allow a partition by allotment. Zimmerman, 365 S.C. at 388, 618 S.E.2d at 901 (2005). Furthermore, "The court of common pleas has jurisdiction in all cases of real and personal estates held in joint tenancy or in common to make partition in kind or by allotment to one or more of the

parties upon their accounting to the other parties in interest for their respective shares ...." § 15-61-50. Campbell v. Jordan, 675 S.E.2d 801, 382 S.C. 445 (S.C. App. 2009). In addition, "The special referee had jurisdiction to partition the property pursuant to Section 15-61-50 and incidentally to allot certain portions of the property to the respective parties in the action." Campbell v. Jordan, 675 S.E.2d 801, 382 S.C. 445 (S.C. App. 2009). In this case, the Court allowed the Appellants an opportunity, if agreement was reached, to purchase Respondent's interest in the subject property. The parties were unable to do so, and by their own letter post trial letter, Appellants stated that the Court would have to decide the issue presented.

Furthermore, issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the appellate court with a platform for meaningful review. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 SC 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Honea v. Honea, 292 SC 456, 357 S.E.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1987). This case does not involve heir's property as defined in S.C. Code § 15-61-320. At no point prior to trial or during trial did the Appellants allege that the subject property was heir's property.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Ms. Robinson moved to the land in 2018. (R.21, L.16-17). Ms. Robinson testified that she thought she signed a deed that they would all own 1/3 of the total land where their homes were located. (R.23, L.15-20). There were already three septic tanks on the property and that when she located her home there it related to the location of one of the septic tanks. There were three homes on the land at the time the deed was done in April of 2016. Appellants already lived on the land and had their home connected to one of the three septic tanks. (R.23 L.22-24). Respondent testified

that she realized after signing the deed to the Appellants that the property was not “divided” and all three owned the entire parcel as tenants in common. In 2019, she had the property surveyed to divide the property into three lots, as equal in size as possible, to include the location of each parties’ home on the property. That survey purported to divide the 3.4 acres into three separate parcels. (Supp.R.1, L.5-7). Ingress and egress from Highway 18 to all three parcels, as provided, is set forth on the plat. (Supp.R.1, L.22-24). Respondent thought that was the survey depicted was being done with the property when she signed her deed in 2016. (Supp.R.2, L.16-18). Respondent did not dispute the fact that each of the Appellant couples would own a particular tract as shown in the plat. (Supp.R.2, L.23-25). There are separate water meters on the property. (R.25, L.23-25). Respondent was informed that the Court could allocate costs and fees if the relief she was seeking was granted. (Supp.R.3 L.16-18). Respondent testified that the metes and bounds shown on the survey the court relies upon on partitioning the property in kind was based on historical information obtained by the surveyors. (R.29, L.23-25)(Supp.R.4 L.1). Appellant Jones testified that she wanted her family to have a tract of land, however, all parties owning the land are not family. (Supp.R.5, L.7-10). In addition, Ms. Jones stated that she believed that the deed was signed in Greenville, when in fact, it was signed at a law firm in Spartanburg (Supp.R.6, L.23-25)(R.31, L.1).

At the hearing on October 13, 2020 the Master ordered that the parties take 30 days to try to work out the matter amongst themselves as to the Respondent’s one-third interest in the land or a purchase price of same. If the parties could not come to a resolution, the Court would have to make a decision based on the applicable law. (R.43 L.14-25). There was no follow-up hearing; the Court’s Final Order was e-filed on December 4, 2020. The court ordered that the land be partitioned in kind pursuant to the survey, (R.55). The Court also ordered the Appellants to pay a

collective two-thirds of the respondent's attorney fees and costs. (R.12). On December 30, 2020 the Appellants timely served the Notice of Appeal addressed to the Respondent's counsel and filed it with the trial court.

## ARGUMENT

### 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN PROCEEDING TO PARTITION THE PROPERTY IN KIND, PURSUANT TO STATUTE?

A partition is an equitable action and, as such, this Court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. Zimmerman v. Marsh, 365 S.C. 383, 386, 618 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2005). The partition procedure must be fair and equitable to all parties of the action. Pruitt v. Pruitt, 298 S.C. 411, 414, 380 S.E.2d 862, 864 (Ct.App.1989). This Court has previously stated that partition in kind is favored when it can be fairly made without injury to the parties. Anderson v. Anderson, 299 S.C. 110, 114, 382 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1989). Furthermore, equitable considerations such as the length of ownership and sentimental attachment to property may be considered in a partition action, but the pecuniary interests of all of the parties is the determining factor in deciding whether to require a judicial sale or to allow a partition by allotment. Zimmerman, 365 S.C. at 388, 618 S.E.2d at 901 (2005).

Appellants rely upon S.C. Code § 15-61-25 in arguing that they had a right of first refusal to purchase the property of the Respondent. While it is admitted that the Appellants, at least 10 days prior to the trial of the matter, submitted a statement of their interest in purchasing the property, the cited statute contemplates a scenario where the Plaintiff/Respondent in this matter, is seeking to sell the property. Herein, Respondent asked for partition in kind. See Amended Complaint. The process set forth in S.C. Code § 15-61-25(B), wherein the parties cannot reach agreement, states that the "value of the interest or interests to be sold shall be determined" by

appraisers. Here, no filing submitted by either party sought a sale of the entire parcel of property. Furthermore, prior to issuing its final order, the trial court afforded the parties an opportunity to try to resolve the matter, in the spirit of S.C. Code § 15-61-25, yet the parties were not able to agree. While they never formally asked for any formal appointment of appraisers, the Court did allow the parties time prior to issuing the final order to see if they could resolve the price issue. The Appellants never put a price on the subject property, but they did send letters dated October 5, 2020 asking if Respondent would sell her interest and at what price. Further, Appellant Jones stated in that letter that they were willing to purchase at a fair price so that nobody suffers damage, etc., and that time was of the essence so a prompt response was necessary. Respondent, on October 28, 2020, as to the price, was willing to take \$72,000.00. On November 3, 2020, Appellants replied that the Court would have to settle the matter. The Court then issued its order December 4, 2020.

Appellants did not try to get an appraiser appointed or find any value for the portion of property that they wanted to purchase. They never paid any money into the Court during the pendency of the action, or take the steps necessary to protect their rights, even when afforded the opportunity after the trial of this matter. In Appellants' appeal on page 8, the Appellants acknowledge that the Judge extended yet another opportunity to decide on a price without further ruling of the Court. Appellants' reliance on S.C. Code §15-61-25 is incorrect due to the fact that the amended complaint in this matter sought to partition the property in kind, and not sell it, as contemplated by said statute. S.C. Code § 15-61-50 was the partition procedure as requested by the Plaintiff in the amended complaint and based on the survey which was attached as an exhibit to the complaint and entered into evidence at the hearing.

"The court of common pleas has jurisdiction in all cases of real and personal estates held in joint tenancy or in common to make partition in kind or by allotment to one or more of the

parties upon their accounting to the other parties in interest for their respective shares ...." § 15-61-50. (citing Campbell v. Jordan, 675 S.E.2d 801, 382 S.C. 445 (S.C. App. 2009).

"The special referee had jurisdiction to partition the property pursuant to Section 15-61-50 and incidentally to allot certain portions of the property to the respective parties in the action." (citing Campbell v. Jordan, 675 S.E.2d 801, 382 S.C. 445 (S.C. App. 2009).

**2. WAS THE TRIAL COURT REQUIRED TO ORDER AN APPRAISAL PRIOR TO PARTITION OF THE PROPERTY IN KIND?**

If Appellants desired to have the property appraised and sold as they now argue, that matter was not raised in any responsive pleading or at trial. Other than the May 2020 filing wherein they state they desire to purchase the property interest of the Respondent, nothing else was done. Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the appellate court with a platform for meaningful review. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 SC 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Honea v. Honea, 292 SC 456, 357 S.E.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1987).

**3. WAS THE TRIAL COURT CORRECT TO APPORTION COSTS AND ATTORNEYS FEES TO ALL PARTIES, INCLUDING APPELLANTS, AS PERMITTED BY STATUTE?**

It is clear pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-61-50, that the Court has jurisdiction in a matter such as this to make partition in kind or by allotment to more than one of the parties. Further, pursuant to S.C. Code § 61-11-110, the Court of Common Pleas may fix attorney fees in all partition proceedings as may be equitable, assess such fees against any or all of the parties or interests. The parties testified that they split all costs associated with the subject property, including the property taxes. Respondent wrote the parties prior to commencement of the underlying action inquiring

about Appellants desire to partition the property as the trial court found. They were not interested in doing so at that time so this action followed. An Affidavit of Attorney's fees/costs was entered into evidence at the trial of this matter and found to be reasonable by the trial court. This issue was within the jurisdiction of the trial court based on statute.

### **CONCLUSION**

The trial courts order shall be affirmed and the costs of this appeal shall be assessed against the Appellants.